IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NULEAF CLV DISPENSARY, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SERVICES, DIVISION OF
PUBLIC AND BEHAVIORAL
HEALTH; ACRES MEDICAL, LLC, a
Nevada limited liability company; and
GB SCIENCES NEVADA, LLC, a
Nevada limited liability company,

Respondents.

GB SCIENCES NEVADA, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Cross-Appellant,

VS.

THE STATE OF NEVADA DEPT. OF HEALTH AND HUMAN SERVICES, DIV. OF PUBLIC AND BEHAVIORAL HEALTH; NULEAF CLV DISPENSARY, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company; and ACRES MEDICAL, LLC, a Nevada limited liability company,

Cross-Respondents.

ISSUES PRESENTED FOR REVIEW

A. <u>NULEAF'S APPEAL:</u>

As set forth in NuLeaf's Opening Brief, the two issues on appeal are:

- 1. <u>Substituted Judgment.</u> Did the District Court err in finding the Division acted inappropriately by issuing a Provisional Certificate to NuLeaf?
- 2. <u>Improper Remedy.</u> Did the District Court err in directing the Division to re-issue the Provisional Certificate to Acres?

B. GB SCIENCES' CROSS-APPEAL:

GB Sciences agrees with the District Court's ruling as it relates to NuLeaf.

However, GB Sciences is appealing the District Court's ruling as it relates to

Acres. The following are the issues presented for review:

- 1. Res Judicata Effect of the Acres Order. In awarding NuLeaf's Provisional Registration Certificate ("PRC") to Acres, the District Court took judicial notice of the November 3, 2014 Order (the "Acres Order") in Acres Medical, LLC v. Dept. of Health and Human Services, Case Number A-15-719637-W (the "Acres Lawsuit"), and found that, notwithstanding the fact that GB Sciences was not a party to the Acres Lawsuit, the Acres Order was binding upon GB Sciences. Did the District Court err when it determined that the Acres Order was binding upon GB Sciences?
- Acres. Did the District Court err in granting summary judgment in favor of Acres and against GB Sciences, when: (i) Acres was not a party to the underlying lawsuit until the hearing on GB Sciences' Motion for Summary Judgment; (ii) Acres' did not file its complaint in intervention until after GB Sciences' Motion for Summary Judgment had been fully briefed and argued; (iii) Acres had never filed a motion for summary judgment for the Court's consideration; and (iv) GB

Sciences was never provided any opportunity to address any of Acres' claims or arguments?

3. <u>Dismissal of GB Sciences' Counterclaims Against Acres.</u> Did the District Court err in dismissing GB Sciences' counterclaims against Acres?

IV.

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

A. NATURE OF THE CASE

This is a case involving the State of Nevada's issuance of registration certificates to Medical Marijuana Establishments ("<u>MMEs</u>"), under Nevada Revised Statutes Chapter 453A.

B. COURSE OF PROCEEDINGS

1. The Complaint.

On December 2, 2014, GB Sciences filed a Complaint, seeking declaratory judgment, injunctive relief, a petition for judicial review, and a petition for writ of mandamus. (Resp. App. Vol. 1: RAPP1-25) Acres was not a party to this lawsuit. <u>Id</u>. On December 5, 2014, GB Sciences filed a First Amended Complaint, seeking the same relief requested in the original Complaint. (App. Vol. 1: APP1-29) On February 2, 2015, the Division filed its Answer. (App. Vol. 1: APP154-57) On October 5, 2015, NuLeaf filed an Answer to the First Amended Complaint. (App. Vol. 2: APP364-76)

2. <u>GB Sciences' Motion for Summary Judgment and NuLeaf's Countermotion for Summary Judgment.</u>

On September 18, 2015, GB Sciences filed a Motion for Summary Judgment (the "<u>MSJ</u>"). (App. Vol. 1: APP160-76 and App. Vol. 2: APP177-347) Acres was not a party at that time. On September 28, 2015, the Division filed its

Response. (App. Vol. 2: APP348-63) On October 5, 2015, NuLeaf filed its Opposition and Countermotion for Summary Judgment (the "*Counter MSJ*"). (App. Vol. 2: APP377-419) On October 14, 2015, GB Sciences filed its Reply to the Response by the Division. (Resp. App. Vol. 1: RAPP26-31) On October 15, 2015, GB Sciences filed its Reply to the Opposition to the MSJ and Opposition to the Counter MSJ. (Resp. App. Vol. 1: RAPP32-56) On November 3, 2015, NuLeaf filed a Reply to GB Science's Opposition to the Counter MSJ. (App. Vol. 3: APP446-57)

3. Acres' Motion to Intervene.

On October 19, 2015, after the MSJ and Counter MSJ had been essentially fully briefed¹, Acres filed its motion to intervene (the "*Motion to Intervene*"). (App. Vol. 3: APP430-45) Thus, none of the parties addressed in their MSJ briefs how Acres' proposed involvement affected the pending motions. On November 3, 2015, NuLeaf filed its Opposition to the Motion to Intervene. (Resp. App. Vol. 1: RAPP57-62) On November 6, 2015, Acres filed its Reply to NuLeaf's Opposition. (Resp. App. Vol. 1: RAPP63-67)

The only brief which had not been filed was Nuleaf's Reply in Support of its Countermotion for Summary Judgment, which was filed on November 3, 2015. However, Nuleaf raised no arguments relating to Acres in that brief, nor would it have been appropriate due to the fact that Acres was not yet a party and due to the limitations of what can be included in reply briefs.

4. The MSJ Hearing.

On November 9, 2015, a hearing was held on the MSJ, the Counter MSJ, and the Motion to Intervene. (App. Vol. 3: APP524-86 and Resp. App. Vol. 1: RAPP68-69) At the hearing, the Motion to Intervene was granted. However, the District Court took the MSJ and Counter MSJ under advisement. (App. Vol. 3: APP524-86 (APP575:19-24)) Importantly, none of the parties made any arguments to the District Court relating to Acres involvement in the case, nor Acres entitlement (if any) to a MME dispensary provisional registration certificate (a "*PRC*"). (App. Vol. 3: APP524-86)

5. Acres Complaint in Intervention and GB Sciences' Counterclaim.

On November 17, 2015, after the hearing on the MSJ and Counter MSJ, Acres filed a Complaint in Intervention in this case (the "Acres Complaint"). (App. Vol. 3: APP458-84) In the Acres Complaint, Acres asserted for the first time claims against GB Sciences and sought an Order from the District Court that it was in a senior position for entitlement to a PRC vis-a-vis GB Sciences. (App. Vol. 3: APP458-84) On December 3, 2015, GB Sciences filed its Answer and Counterclaim ("GB Sciences' Counterclaim"). (Resp. App. Vol. 1: RAPP70-88) In GB Sciences' Counterclaim, it sought a declaration that the Acres Order was not binding upon GB Sciences and that due to equitable and other doctrines, GB Sciences should be awarded the now available PRC. (Resp.

App. Vol. 1: RAPP70-88 (RAPP83-84)) On December 22, 2015, the Division filed its Answer to the Acres Complaint. (Resp. App. Vol. 1: RAPP99-102)

6. The District Court's MSJ Order.

On December 14, 2015, the District Court entered an Order (the "<u>MSJ Order</u>"), wherein the District Court granted the MSJ, in part, ordering the Division to revoke NuLeaf's PRC. (Resp. App. Vol. 1: RAPP89-98)

In the MSJ Order; however, the District Court awarded the PRC to Acres instead of GB Sciences. <u>Id</u>. In reaching this result, the District Court took judicial notice of the October 8, 2015, Order in the Acres Lawsuit, and based thereupon concluded that Acres should have been the thirteenth ranked applicant. <u>Id</u>. at RAPP94. Based upon this judicial notice/finding, the District Court ordered the Division to issue the now available PRC to Acres. <u>Id</u>. at RAPP96-97.

7. GB Science's Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment and Acres' Motion to Dismiss Counterclaim.

On December 23, 2015, GB Sciences filed a Motion to Alter or Amend Judgment; or, in the Alternative Motion for Partial Reconsideration (the "Motion to Alter"). (Resp. App. Vol. 1: RAPP103-79) On January 11, 2016, Acres filed its Opposition. (Resp. App. Vol. 2: RAPP243-257) On January 18, 2016, GB Sciences filed its Reply to the Opposition. (Resp. App. Vol. 2: RAPP252-84)

On December 28, 2015, Acres filed a Motion to Dismiss GB Sciences' Counterclaim (the "Acres MTD"). (Resp. App. Vol. 1: RAPP180-88) On January 5, 2016, GB Sciences filed its First Amended Answer to Complaint in Intervention and Counterclaim. (Resp. App. Vol. 1: RAPP189-207) On January 11, 2016, GB Sciences filed its Opposition to the Acres MTD. (Resp. App. Vol. 2: RAPP208-42) On January 19, 2016, Acres filed its Reply. (Resp. App. Vol. 2: RAPP285-95) On January 25, 2016, Acres filed a Motion to Dismiss GB Sciences' First Amended Counterclaim (the "Second Acres MTD"). (Resp. App. Vol. 2: RAPP296-300) On January 26, 2016, a hearing was conducted on the Motion to Alter and the Acres MTD (and Second Acres MTD). (Resp. App. Vol. 2: RAPP301-02 and RAPP303-58) The District Court denied the Motion to Alter but granted the Acres MTD (and the Second Acres MTD). Id.

8. The District Court's March 3, 2016 Orders.

On March 3, 2016, the District Court entered an Order denying the Motion to Alter. (Resp. App. Vol. 2: RAPP363-66) On the same date, the District Court entered an Order granting the Acres MTD and Second Acres MTD. (Resp. App. Vol. 2: RAPP359-62) On March 4, 2016, Acres served notices of entry of order for the two orders. (App. Vol. 3: APP517-23, Resp. App. Vol. 2: RAPP367-73)

C. DISPOSITION BELOW

The disposition below has been set forth in full in the preceding two sections, III(A) and (B).

V.

STATEMENT OF FACTS

A. GENERAL BACKGROUND.

In 2013, SB 374, which was codified into NRS Chapter 453A, was passed by the Nevada State Legislature, which provided for the registration of medical marijuana establishments ("*MMEs*").

Under NRS § 453A.320 et seq., the Division, in partnership with the local jurisdiction, plays a role in the ultimate licensing of MMEs. The Division is responsible for processing and ranking applications for MMEs, focusing on public health and public safety, while the local jurisdiction maintains the right to determine issues such as site plans, zoning, safety, and proximity to schools, public facilities, or other businesses.

In relation to NRS § 453A.322², Senator Tick Segerblom called a meeting of the Advisory Commission on the Administration of Justice's Subcommittee on

² NuLeaf takes exception to GB Sciences' reference to these Minutes, arguing that they do not compose the "legislative history" of SB 374 because the meeting took place *after* passage of the bill. Nonetheless, they are still instructive and persuasive as to the thought process and intent behind the legislation of the parties from both the Division and the Nevada State Senate who were instrumental in its passage.

the Medical Use of Marijuana. (App. Vol. 2: APP183-206) During that meeting, Senator Segerblom addressed the question of what happened if one of the applicants who was highly ranked by the State failed to qualify at the local level.

Id. Mr. Westom made it very clear that it was the intent of the legislature that if an application was denied at the local level, the State also denied it and would let them know "who was the next ranked entity." (App. Vol. 2: APP189)

B. THE DIVISION'S APPLICATION PROCESS.

The Division issued its own application packet. (App. Vol. 2: APP256-300) While the Division was allowed to *accept* all applications submitted, under NRS § 453A.322, the Division could only issue a PRC if the applicant's application included six (6) specific items and if the applicant otherwise met the other requirements established by NRS Chapter 453A.

One of the six (6) items required by law before the Division could issue a PRC is found in NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5), which states:

If the city, town or county in which the proposed medical marijuana establishment will be located has enacted zoning restrictions, proof of licensure with the applicable local governmental authority or a letter from the applicable local governmental authority certifying that the proposed medical marijuana establishment is in compliance with those restrictions and satisfies all applicable building requirements.

NRS § 453A.322 (emphasis added). Thus, before the Division could issue a PRC, the applicant must obtain either proof of licensure or a letter from the local jurisdiction ("*Local Approval*").

C. THE CITY'S APPLICATION PROCESS.

In accordance with its own responsibilities, the City of Las Vegas (the "City") enacted Ordinance No. 6321 and 6324 to establish zoning regulations, licensing regulations, and standards for MME locations and issued an MME business license application form. (App. Vol. 2: APP208-52) Further, the City enacted Las Vegas Municipal Code 6.95.080(D) which provided:

Upon approval of a medical marijuana compliance permit, the Director shall prepare a notice to the State regulating authority pursuant to NRS 453A.322.3(a)(5), outlining that the proposed location has been found in conformance with land use and zoning restrictions and that the applicant is eligible to be considered for a medical marijuana establishment business license....

LVMC 6.95.080(D). (App. Vol. 1: APP160-76) As evidenced by LVMC 6.95.080(D), the City specifically created a process to notify the Division as mandated by and in compliance with NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5).

D. NULEAF'S APPLICATION.

NuLeaf was one of the forty-nine (49) applicants for one of the twelve (12) registration certificates allotted to the City. (App. Vol. 2: APP305) While NuLeaf submitted its City application, on October 28-29, 2014, the Las Vegas City Council denied NuLeaf's special use and compliance permit, along with nine (9) other applicants. (App. Vol. 1: APP165)

As mandated by LVMC 6.95.080(D) and with the specific intention of complying with NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5), on or about October 30, 2014, the City

sent a letter to the Division notifying the Division that NuLeaf had failed to obtain Local Approval. (App. Vol. 1: APP307-14 (APP311) and APP316-21) Notwithstanding the City's notification, the Division inappropriately issued a PRC to NuLeaf. (App. Vol. 1: APP166)

E. GB SCIENCES' APPLICATION.

Meanwhile, unlike NuLeaf, on October 28-29, 2014, the City of Las Vegas approved GB Science's applications for special use permits and compliance permits and GB Science's was included in the City's Notice to the Division as being approved. (App. Vol. 2: APP323-27)

On or about November 3, 2014, GB Sciences was notified by the Division that it was not issued a PRC because it was not ranked in the top 12 by the Division. (App. Vol. 2: APP329-30 and APP332-7) Rather, GB Sciences was ranked No. 13 by the Division, just one position outside the twelve PRCs allocated to the City of Las Vegas. (App. Vol. 2: APP329-30)

If the Division had complied with NRS § 453A.322(3)(a) and disqualified NuLeaf due to NuLeaf's failure to obtain the letter required by NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5), GB Sciences would have been ranked 12th in the Division's ranking and would, therefore, have received one of the twelve allotted PRCs. (App. Vol. 2: APP329-30 and APP332-37)

F. ACRES' SEPARATE LAWSUIT.

On or about June 9, 2015, Acres filed the Acres Lawsuit. (Resp. App. Vol. 2: RAPP252-84 (RAPP264-84)) Acres had apparently received a low score on its MME Application from the Division, had been ranked as low as 35th or 36th, and was seeking a new score. (App. Vol. 2: APP332-37) (Resp. App. Vol. 2: RAPP252-84) (RAPP264-84))

However, Acres did not name GB Sciences as a defendant in the Acres Lawsuit, even though Acres sought to leapfrog over GB Sciences in rank. (App. Vol. 1: APP329-30) On or about October 8, 2015, after an essentially uncontested hearing, the District Court in the Acres Lawsuit entered an Order, granting Acres' petition for writ of mandamus and ordering the Division to rescore Acres' MME application and re-rank it number 13 among the applicants for an MME PRC allocated to the City. (Resp. App. Vol. 1: RAPP103-179 (RAPP156-59))

VI.

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The District Court did not err in revoking NuLeaf's PRC because the District Court had the authority to interpret and apply NRS § 453A as it related to NuLeaf and correctly did so in light of the fact that NuLeaf did not comply with NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5) prior to the issuance of the PRC. Further, the District

Court had full authority to put the parties in the position they should have been in if the law had been followed. Finally, the "not later than" language of NRS § 453A.322 does not bar the District Court from acting.

However, the District Court erred in awarding NuLeaf's revoked PRC to Acres, and in so doing violated GB Sciences' due process rights, when the District Court improperly took judicial notice of the Acres Order and incorrectly applied res judicata effect thereto, and when it granted a non-existent, unbriefed and unargued motion for summary judgment in favor of Acres. Further, the District Court erred in dismissing GB Sciences' counterclaims against Acres, notwithstanding the fact that the counterclaims were properly pled.

VII.

LEGAL ARGUMENT - APPEAL

A. STANDARD OF REVIEW.

There are two standards of review applicable to the underlying appeal in chief.

1. <u>De Novo Review.</u>

Statutory interpretation is a question of law which this court will review *de novo*. <u>City of Henderson v. Kilgore</u>, 122 Nev. 331, 334, 131 P.3d 11, 13 (2006). The District Court's interpretation of NRS Chapter 453A, and its application to the facts in this case are subject to *de novo* review.

2. Abuse of Discretion.

Although not declared by the Nevada Supreme Court, other courts hold that equitable determinations are reviewed by the appellate court under the abuse of discretion standard. *See* A. C. Aukerman Company v. R. I. Chaides Constr. Co., 960 F.2d 1020 (Fed. Cir. 1992)(*reviewing* laches and equitable estoppel); Dickson, Carlson & Campillo v. Pole, 99 Cal. Rptr. 2d 278 (Ct. App., 2nd Dist. 2000) (unclean hands). Assuming this standard applies in Nevada, the District Court's issuance of a mandatory injunction which stripped NuLeaf of its PRC and awarded it to Acres is subject to this standard of review.

B. THE DISTRICT COURT DID NOT ERR IN REVOKING NULEAF'S PRC.

1. The District Court had the Authority to interpret and Apply NRS § 453A.

Statutory interpretation is a question of law. <u>City of Henderson v.</u>

<u>Kilgore</u>, 122 Nev. 331, 334, 131 P.3d 11, 13 (2006). It is the District Court's responsibility to determine the law. <u>See Baron v. District Court</u>, 95 Nev. 646, 648, 600 P.2d 1192, 1193-94 (1979). Therefore, the District Court had the authority to interpret NRS Chapter 453A.

NuLeaf essentially argues that the District Court should have abdicated its responsibility to determine the law, by giving unfettered deference to the Division

with respect to all aspects of interpretation and implementation of NRS Chapter 453A. *See* Opening Brief at 19-25.

However, courts will not defer to the secretary of a division of the State of Nevada where the secretary's interpretation is unreasonable and conflicts with legislative intent. Nev. State Democratic Party v. Nev. Republication Party, 256 P.3d 1, 10 (Nev. 2011); State, Div. of Ins. v. State Farm, 116 Nev. 290, 293, 995 P.2d 482, 485 (2000).

Further, contrary to NuLeaf's contentions, the plain language of NRS Chapter 453A shows that the law was designed to be implemented as a balanced partnership between the Division and the local authorities.³

This is evident in the clear language of the provision at issue, NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5), as well as the remainder of NRS Chapter 453A (physical address considerations (NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(2)); registration certificate

³ Nuleaf claims that the local authorities tried to usurp the authority of the Division to rank the MME applicants through the local approval process and favor certain applicants over others; however, Nuleaf only makes this argument because its own application could not pass local muster. It is not borne out by the facts in the record below.

Nuleaf references a separate district court case involving unincorporated Clark County, but does not reveal that Judge Delaney denied a preliminary injunction because the applicants who did not yet have special use permits but received PRCs from the Division, nonetheless, had received letters from various cities as well as staff recommendations for approval from Clark County before the PRCs were issued. (App. Vol. 2: APP399-403 (APP402)) NuLeaf did not receive such a letter in this case. Rather, NuLeaf's applications for permits had been denied under strong protest by many persons. (App. Vol. 2: APP316-20) NuLeaf's arguments also ignore the many sections of NRS Chapter 453A (cited herein) which show that the law expected MME applicants for such a highly regulated activity to be able to

provisional until license issued by local authority (NRS § 453A.326); location considered (NRS § 453A.328(5)); local inspections and record maintenance (NRS § 453A.330); revocation of PRC if failure to pay fee to local authority (NRS § 453A.340(4)); applicant must comply with local ordinances and rules of zoning and use (NRS § 453A.350(1)(b)); applicant can move locations if approved by local authorities (NRS § 453A.350(2)); applicant cannot supersede local fire safety rules (NRS § 453A.352(2))); etc.

Contrary to the suggestions of NuLeaf, the law was not intended to favor simply the applicant with the biggest sway in Carson City; but, rather, to objectively consider the impact of a proposed MME on the local community, and the District Court is entitled to make its own determination on the law, regardless of the Division's interpretation or application of it.

2. The District Court Correctly Interpreted and Applied NRS § 453A.322(3)(a)(5).

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