IN THE SUPREME COURT OF THE STATE OF NEVADA

NULEAF DISPENSARY, LLC, A
NEVADA LIMITED LIABILITY
COMPANY,

Appellant,

vs.

THE STATE OF NEVADA
DEPARTMENT OF HEALTH AND
HUMAN SERVICES, DIVISION OF
PUBLIC AND BEHAVIORAL
HEALTH;

Respondent

ACRES MEDICAL, LLC,

Respondent/ Cross Respondent

AND GB SCIENCES, LLC,

Respondent/ Cross Appellant

Case No.: 69909

Dist. Ct Case No.: A14-7103974-C
Electronically Filed
Jan 18 2017 10:15 a.m.
Elizabeth A. Brown
Clerk of Supreme Court

ANSWERING BRIEF OF
CROSS RESPONDENT ACRES MEDICAL, LLC

TAMI D. COWDEN, ESQ. NBN 8994
MARK E. FERRARIO, ESQ. NBN 1625
GREENBERG TRAUIG, LLP
3773 Howard Hughes Parkway, Suite 400 N
Las Vegas, Nevada 89169

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

SUMMARY OF THE ARGUMENT

The judgment should be affirmed. GB Sciences concedes that the District Court properly determined that the Division should issue the certificate to the next highest ranked applicant. The score that Acres received placed it as the next highest applicant, and GB Sciences has failed to present any basis for challenging the validity of that score. GB Sciences's due process rights were not infringed, given that the ranks are based upon unchallenged scores, GB Sciences was aware of Acres's separate litigation, yet failed to intervene, and GB Science failed to object to Acres's intervention in this litigation. Nor did GB Science allege any viable claims against Acres that would warrant the relief sought by GB Sciences.

LEGAL ARGUMENT

I. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DIRECTED THE DIVISION TO ISSUE A CERTIFICATE TO ACRES, THE NEXT HIGHEST RANKED APPLICANT.

GB Sciences has failed to establish that the District Court erred or abused its discretion in directing the Division to issue a provisional certificate to Acres. GB Sciences has failed to establish any denial of due process, as GB Sciences was aware of Acres's own litigation, it did not protest Acres's intervention into these proceedings, and it failed to allege any facts to suggest that the Acres's ranking was inaccurate. Because GB Sciences failed even to allege any factual dispute as to the respective scores of Acres and GB Sciences, and thus failed to allege facts that would support a conclusion that Acres was not ranked higher than GB Sciences, no denial of due process has occurred. Nor has GB Science shown that the District Court's consideration of the Mandamus Order was improper. Accordingly, the judgment should be affirmed.

A. GB Science's Due Process Rights Were Not Violated.

GB Science's contention that its due process rights were violated because the District Court did not direct the Division to award a provisional certificate to it is without merit. The District Court properly denied GB Science's Motion for Summary Judgment to the extent such motion sought an award of the certificate to GB Sciences, because the evidence presented to the District Court did *not* establish

that GB Science was the next highest ranking applicant once Nuleaf's application was deleted. To the contrary, the Division acknowledged at the November 9, 2015 hearing that Acres, not GB Sciences, was the next highest ranked applicant. **III APP 534:8-11.** Moreover, even in the proceedings that occurred subsequent to the District Court's ruling on the summary judgment motion, GB Sciences alleged no facts that, if presumed true, would establish that GB Sciences's application received a higher score than did Acres's application. **III APP 534:8-11.** Thus, the "property right" that GB Sciences claims was unjustly taken was a ranking it never actually possessed. GB Sciences has the rank its score earned; it has not been dispossessed of any property.

GB Science's reliance on *Nicoladze v. First National Bank of Nevada*, 94 Nev. 377, 580 P.2d 1391 (1978) is inapposite. In that case, a person who had never been named in the litigation was held liable for a judgment. Here, the summary judgment granted by the District Court required the Division to correct its errors. The order did not impose any liability on GB Sciences. Instead, GB Science simply did not receive the entirety of the relief it had requested.

However, in order for GB Sciences to receive the provisional certificate, it would have been necessary for it to establish that it was the next highest ranked applicant. In light of the Division's acknowledgement that Acres was the next highest ranked applicant, GB Sciences could not, and did not, meet that burden.

Furthermore, GB Sciences's claims that it had no opportunity to challenge Acres's ranking is belied by the record. Acres's Motion to Intervene specifically addressed the prospect of a claim of prejudice by GB Sciences, asserting:

[E]ven if GB Sciences opposed the Motion [to Intervene], it could not claim prejudice. The only prejudice GB Sciences could claim is that Acres is ranked ahead of GB Sciences and, therefore, will receive the Provisional License GB Sciences seeks. But that is hardly a reason to preclude Acres from intervening in this action. Indeed, *Acres has always been ranked 13th and therefore ahead of GB Sciences.*

III APP 437 (emphasis added). Acres added:

Acres's claim to the Provisional License that is the subject of this action is superior to GB Sciences's. To preclude Acres from intervening in this action to protect its rights would result in irreparable prejudice because Acres is next in line to obtain a Provisional License. . . . Acres is ranked 13th and, therefore next in line for a Provisional License should one become available. The crux of GB Sciences's argument is that it is ranked 13th and next in line. Therefore, the subject matter of this action is Acres's potential Provisional License, not GB Sciences's.

Id. at 438 (emphasis added). GB Sciences thus had an opportunity to argue that Acres's intervention was untimely and inappropriate because Acres was not entitled to the vacant certificate, but GB Sciences chose not to oppose the intervention.

Furthermore, the District Court's summary judgment order was not a final order in this litigation. Accordingly, it was subject to modification upon subsequent proceedings. NRCP 56(d). Before the litigation below was concluded,

GB Sciences had an opportunity to litigate claims against Acres through its counterclaims. As discussed in Part II below, GB Sciences was unable to assert any viable claims that would challenge Acres's superior score. Accordingly, there was no basis for the District Court to modify the summary judgment ruling. These proceedings established that GB Sciences had both notice and an opportunity to raise its defenses with respect to Acres's rank, and an attendant entitlement to the provisional certificate.

As GB Sciences has failed to establish any violation of due process, the judgment should be affirmed.

B. The District Court Properly Considered the Mandamus Order.

GB Sciences contends that the District Court should not have considered the effect of the Mandamus Order, because judicial notice should not be taken of decisions in other cases, and because the contents of the Order constituted law, rather than fact. Both contentions are without merit.

First, while the District Court asserted that it was taking judicial notice of the Mandamus Order, it was not necessary that it do so in order to deny GB Sciences's Motion with respect to its own entitlement to the provisional license. "Judicial notice" involves a court accepting a fact as true without the requirement of proof. *Lemel v. Smith*, 64 Nev. 545, 566, 187 P.2d 169, 179 (1947) ("Judicial notice takes the place of proof, and is of equal force."). Here, however, evidence

of Acres's status as the next highest ranked applicant was in the record before the Court. Specifically, the Division conceded during the November 9, 2015 hearing that Acres was the next highest ranked applicant. **III APP 534:8-11.**

Furthermore, there was no need for the District Court to judicially notice the existence of the Mandamus Order. That Order was itself properly included within the evidentiary record, because it had been authenticated through the affidavit of Acres's counsel in the Motion to Intervene. **III APP 430-445; see also, NRS 52:025** (providing that testimony of a witness with knowledge is sufficient to establish authenticity of document). Furthermore, the Order was also included as an exhibit with Acres's Complaint. **III APP 480-484.** GB Science did not challenge the authenticity of the Order in its Answer; to the contrary, it asserted that "the Order speaks for itself." **I R. App. 73, ¶ 17.** In ruling on a motion for summary judgment, the District Court is entitled to consider pleadings and affidavits on file. **NRCP 56(c).** Accordingly, GB Science's arguments regarding the propriety of the taking of judicial notice of the Order are moot, as judicial notice of the Order was unnecessary.

However, even if it had been necessary for the District Court to take judicial notice of the Mandamus Order, there would have been no error. It is entirely proper for a Court to take judicial notice of its records in other cases where a valid reason to do so exists. *Mack v. Estate of Mack*, 125 Nev. 80, 92, 206 P.3d 98, 106

(2009). In *Mack*, the Court held that it was proper to consider the outcome of a murder trial, in a civil case involving the convicted murderer entitlement to benefits from the victim's estate. The Court noted the close relationship between the two cases justified an exception from the general common law rule that judicial notice would not be taken of court records. Because the outcome of the murder trial had a direct bearing on the issue to be resolved in the appeal, judicial notice of the murder conviction was warranted. Similarly, in the case cited by GB Sciences, *Occhiuto v. Occhiuto*, 97 Nev. 143, 625 P.2d 568 (1981), the judicial order in question was deemed properly noticed, because the order from the prior case had direct bearing on the viability of the second case.

Here, the Mandamus Order had a direct bearing on the issue of who was the highest ranked applicant once Nuleaf's application was removed. Thus, the two cases were connected in a manner sufficient to warrant an exception to the common law rule.

Relying on NRS 47.140, GB Sciences also contends that the Mandamus Order constituted law, but it is not a law that may be judicially noticed. GB Sciences further contends that the District Court erroneously cited NRS 47.150, which governs judicial notice of facts. However, GB Sciences mistakenly identifies factual findings in the Mandamus Order as legal conclusions. The conclusion of the Acres Court that Acres should have been the 13th ranked

applicant was a *factual* conclusion reached on the basis of evidence that 1) a portion of Acres's score had been omitted from its total score; and 2) the total score Acres would have received had the omitted portion been included was 167.3. The *legal* conclusion arising from that factual determination was that the Division should be directed to correct the score and rankings, and that is what the District Court ordered.

Significantly, GB Sciences offers no explanation for its assertion that the Mandamus Order constituted only legal conclusions, and cites no authority to support in support of its theory. However, there is authority for relying on NRS 47.150 when determining whether a court decision may be noticed. Specifically, in *Mack, supra*, the Nevada Supreme Court expressly noted the applicability of NRS 47.150 to allow it to consider court rulings in the Mack murder trial. The Court also indicated that the court records showing that Mack had been adjudged a murdered satisfied the requirement for sources whose accuracy cannot be questioned under NRS 47.130. *Mack*, 125 Nev. at 91, 206 P.3d at 106. Similarly, in *Occhiuto*, 97 Nev. at 146, 625 P.2d at 570, the Court cited NRS 47.150 as governing. Thus, the very authority on which GB Sciences relies refutes its claim.

C. The District Court Did Not Apply Res Judicata Against GB Sciences.

Finally, GB Sciences contends that District Court applied res judicata, or issue or claim preclusion to bar GB Sciences's request for a provisional certificate. However, the District Court did not rely on issue or claim preclusion in denying any relief to GB Sciences or in dismissing the counterclaims, nor did Acres rely on such doctrines in seeking dismissal of GB Sciences's counterclaims. Accordingly, GB Sciences's claims regarding the requirements for the application of these doctrines have no bearing on this matter.

As GB Sciences has failed to show any error in the entry of the summary judgment order which granted relief to Acres, the judgment should be affirmed.

II. THE DISTRICT COURT PROPERLY DISMISSED GB SCIENCES'S COUNTERCLAIMS.

The District Court properly dismissed GB Science's counterclaims, as the facts, as alleged, did not support the grant of the requested relief. A motion to dismiss is properly granted when it appears that the plaintiff could prove no set of facts that, even if accepted by the trier of fact as true, would entitled him to relief. *Buzz Stew, LLC v. City of N. Las Vegas*, 124 Nev. 224, 228, 181 P.3d 670, 672 (2008). Here, GB Sciences itself alleged that Acres received a score of 167.8. **I R. APP. 201, ¶ 53.** GB Sciences also alleged that it had received a score of only 166.86. **I R. APP. 201, ¶ 45.** GB Sciences did not allege any facts that would

support a conclusion that GB Sciences had earned a score higher than Acres's score. Yet, the relief sought by GB Sciences was for the Division to skip over Acres and award the provisional certificate to GB Sciences, a lower scoring applicant. The allegations did not support a claim that would provide this relief, and accordingly, the counterclaim was properly dismissed.

A. GB Sciences Failed to State a Viable Claim Against Acres for Declaratory Relief.

The District Court properly dismissed GB Science's claim for declaratory relief, as the facts alleged, even if presumed true, would not support a grant of relief against Acres. The relief requested in GB Science's counterclaim would have placed restrictions on the conduct by the Division and the City. However, as the District Court noted, GB Sciences could not obtain relief against the Division and the City by asserting claims against Acres.

The Nevada Supreme Court has held that declaratory relief is only available when the following conditions are all met: "(1) there must exist a justiciable controversy; that is to say, a controversy in which a claim of right is asserted against one who has an interest in contesting it; (2) the controversy must be between persons whose interests are adverse; (3) the party seeking declaratory relief must have a legal interest in the controversy, that is to say, a legally protectable interest; and (4) the issue involved in the controversy must be ripe for judicial determination." *Knittle v. Progressive Cas. Ins. Co.*, 112 Nev. 8, 10, 908

P.2d 724, 725 (1996) (quoting *Doe v. Bryan*, 102 Nev. 523, 525, 728 P.2d 443, 444 (1986)). However, a “controversy” does not exist between parties simply because the actions or rights of one party have the potential to affect another party or that a party has a practical interest in the outcome of a lawsuit between others. *Shell Gulf of Mexico Inc. v. Ctr. for Biological Diversity, Inc.*, 771 F.3d 632, 637 (9th Cir. 2014). “A controversy does not exist wherever an individual possibly, probably, or even certainly affected by litigation asks a federal court to resolve a legal question . . . [i]t is not enough for a declaratory judgment plaintiff to assert . . . a practical interest in the outcome of a lawsuit between other parties.” *Id.* Likewise, a mere difference of opinion is not enough to constitute a judicial controversy with respect to action for declaratory relief. *See Kress, v. Corey, et al.*, 65 Nev. 1, 27, 30, 189 P.2d 352 (1948).

Moreover, Acres is powerless to enforce the right claimed by GB Sciences, i.e., to award a certificate to GB Sciences. A party who is powerless to perform the desired outcome may not be named in declaratory relief actions. *Doe v. Bryan*, 102 Nev. 523, 728 P.2d 443 (1986) (finding that a governor was an improper defendant to a declaratory relief action seeking interpretation of NRS 201.190 because his duties did not encompass the initiation of criminal prosecution and was thus powerless under the statute). Declaratory relief should not be granted where it is impossible to impose any acceptable remedy should a plaintiff prevail. *See Tam*

v. Colton, 94 Nev. 453, 461, 581, P.2d 447, 453 (1978). Here, there is no acceptable remedy to fashion against Acres.

Here, it is undisputed that Acres has no power to dictate GB Sciences's application score or ranking. Thus, Acres has no control or legal obligations concerning the scoring and ranking of GB Sciences's application. Accordingly, the Court could not fashion any declaration of rights between the parties and no justiciable controversy exists between GB Sciences and Acres.

B. GB Science's Claim for Injunctive Relief Was Not Alleged Against Acres.

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